

HOUGHTON REGIS TOWN COUNCIL

Peel Street, Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire, LU5 5EY

Town Mayor: **Clir M Herber** Town Clerk: **Clare Evans** Tel:01582 708540e-mail:info@houghtonregis-tc.gov.uk

Date: 7th July 2025

To:Members of the Planning CommitteeCllrs:M Herber (Chair), E Billington, E Cooper, Y Farrell, D Jones, C Slough, D Taylor

(Copies to other Councillors for information)

Notice of Meeting

You are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the **Planning Committee** to be held at the Council Offices, Peel Street on **Monday 14th July 2025** at **7.00pm**.

Members of the public who wish to attend the meeting may do so in person or remotely through the meeting link below.

To attend remotely through Teams please follow this link: <u>MEETING LINK</u>

THIS MEETING MAY BE RECORDED¹

Clare Evans Town Clerk

Agenda

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS

2. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

In accordance with approved Standing Orders 1(e)-1(l) Members of the public may make representations, ask questions and give evidence at a meeting which they are entitled to attend in respect of the business on the agenda.

The total period of time designated for public participation at a meeting shall not exceed 15 minutes and an individual member of the public shall not speak for more than 3 minutes unless directed by the chairman of the meeting.

The use of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council's control.

¹ This meeting may be filmed by the Council for subsequent broadcast online and can be viewed at <u>http://www.houghtonregis.org.uk/minutes</u>

Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member or a member of the public. No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into exempt session.

3. SPECIFIC DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST & REQUESTS FOR DISPENSATIONS

Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in accordance with the Council's Code of Conduct, Members are required to declare any interests which are not currently entered in the member's register of interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of any such interest.

Members are invited to submit any requests for Dispensations for consideration.

4. MINUTES

To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on the 23^{rd} June 2025.

Recommendation: To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd June 2025 and for these to be signed by the Chairman.

5. PLANNING MATTERS

(a) To consider the following applications:

<u>CB/25/02000/SECM</u> (click for more details)	Modification of Section 106 Agreement attached to planning permission: CB/19/04220/OUT, CB/22/04525/VOC and CB/23/03551/RM. Modification requested, Viability concerns as detailed within the attached Viability Assessment. Bury Spinney, Thorn Road, Houghton Regis, Dunstable, LU5 6JQ
<u>CB/25/01901/FULL (click</u> for more details)	Erection of 5 commercial units (Class E(g)(iii),B2 and B8) with associated access from Bedford Road, car parking, service yards, drainage and landscaping. Land rear of Cresswell Edge and Seaton Crescent, Bedford Road, Houghton Regis
<u>CB/25/01728/RM (click</u> for more details)	Reserved Matters: following Outline Application CB/12/03613/OUT (Outline planning permission with the details of access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for later determination. Development to comprise: up to 5,150 dwellings (Use Class C3); up to 202,500 sqm gross of additional development in Use Classes: A1, A2, A3 (retail), A4 (public house), A5 (take away); B1, B2, B8 (offices, industrial and storage and distribution); C1 (hotel), C2 (care home), D1 and D2 (community and leisure); car showroom; data centre; petrol filling station; car parking; primary substation; energy centre; and for the laying out of the buildings; routes and open spaces within the development; and all associated works and operations including but not limited to: demolition; earthworks; engineering operations. All development, works and operations to be in accordance with the Development Parameters Schedule and Plans.) Reserved matters sought for appearance only to bandstand Land on the northern edge of Houghton Regis, Bedfordshire.

(b) Decision Notices

Permissions/Approvals/Consents:

None at time of going to print.

Refusals:

None at time of going to print.

Withdrawals:

None at time of going to print.

HOUGHTON REGIS TOWN COUNCIL Planning Committee Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd June 2025 at 7.00pm

Present:	Councillors:	M Herber E Billington E Cooper Y Farrell D Jones C Slough D Taylor	Chairman
	Officers:	Louise Senior Amanda Samuels	Head of Democratic Services Administration Officer
	Public:	3	
Apologies:	Councillors:	0	

13261 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS

None.

13262 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

A letter had been received from a member of the public regarding planning application CB/25/01554/REG3. Members agreed that this should be read out under the relevant agenda item when a presentation would also be made by the Headmaster of the Academy of Central Bedfordshire (ACB).

13263 SPECIFIC DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

13264 MINUTES

To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on the 2nd June 2025.

Members enquired if there had been an update on minute 13209. The Head of Democratic Services advised that a response was still awaited.

Resolved: To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 2nd June 2025 and for these to be signed by the Chairman.

13265 PLANNING MATTERS

(a) The following planning applications were considered:

<u>CB/25/01554/REG3</u> (click for more details)	Demolition of the former leisure centre. Creation of a new car park. Change of use of building to a pre-school and access to adult skills area. Alterations to windows, doors and wall treatments following demolition. Houghton Regis Leisure Centre, Parkside Drive, Houghton Regis, Dunstable, LU5 5PX Central Bedfordshire Council
	The Headmaster of ACB stated that the old leisure centre had been an invaluable resource for vulnerable pupils who would be negatively impacted by the loss of facilities and the proposed solution of transporting them to other sites.
	ACB had been in dialogue with Central Bedfordshire Council (CBC) and had requested that the old school gym be maintained. The Surveyors report had stated this proposal would mean a reduction in the cost of demolition.
	The additional parking facility proposed at this site was felt to be unnecessary as sufficient parking was available elsewhere, e.g. areas around the school and the new leisure centre.
	HRTC was encouraged to submit a letter rejecting the proposal and requesting that it be redesigned and reconsidered.
	There had been no process of consultation to air concerns.
	A letter from Bruce Hallam of the Houghton Regis Badminton Club was read out.
	The letter questioned the justification for the demolition of the site. Access to Houstone School – the proposed alternative facility - was unable to provide the level of access required by the local community.
	It was urged that the demolition should be paused and a transparent public review held to establish how this decision had been reached.
	 Members were in agreement with the points raised: Sufficient parking was available in the surrounding area, including the campus and the new leisure centre. There was no clear rationale for the demolition of the building or for why the gym hall could not be used. There had been no satisfactory response to concerns or questions. A lack of consultation.

- Demolition of the site, with no alternative facility, meant that the needs of vulnerable children would fail to be met.
- Sports hall provision did not match previous provision levels and failed to meet the CBC Leisure Strategy.

• The proposal for increased parking provided no benefit to the community of Houghton Regis.

Members were advised that Cllr Alderman had been attempting to engage with Cllr Steven Watkins prior to the demolition of the building but had not been successful as yet.

It was requested that a suitable objection was composed.

Members noted the following items from the decision document for the original leisure centre application in 2022:

- 1.8 Leisure Strategy this stated that the sports hall within the existing leisure centre would be replaced with a new sports hall; and that a Community Use Agreements would be sought to secure community access for any new sports halls within schools.
- 1.13

This outlined what the CUA was expected to cover.

Members felt that these objectives had not been achieved.

Houghton Regis Town Council raised strong objections to the application.

Comments: Houghton Regis Town Council wishes to formally raise strong objections to the proposed demolition of the former leisure centre and associated plans for redevelopment. This objection is made on the grounds outlined below, reflecting both public and councillor concerns.

The leisure centre has, over many years, been a vital community resource. It has not only served recreational needs but has provided a critical support mechanism for students with learning disabilities and those at risk of exclusion. The removal of this facility would have a tangible and detrimental impact on the educational experience and wellbeing of some of the most vulnerable young people in our town.

It is disappointing that the only stated benefit of demolishing the leisure centre is the provision of additional parking spaces. The application documentation itself admits that there is no associated improvement to site safety. The suggestion that parking is a driving factor appears to be unfounded when considering that the newly constructed car park is not currently being used to full capacity during the day. In addition, there is already substantial parking provision across the wider campus site. It has been suggested by residents and councillors alike that a more suitable and cost-effective alternative would be to retain the old sports hall, which could be repurposed as needed. This would not only preserve an important facility but also reduce overall project costs. Documents previously presented to Central Bedfordshire Council indicate that this approach has merit and deserves further exploration.

There is significant concern that no meaningful or official public consultation has taken place regarding the proposed demolition. Members of the community feel that they have not had the opportunity to engage with or influence this decision-making process. In a project of this scale and with such lasting implications, this is unacceptable.

Further concerns have been raised in relation to the lack of alignment between this proposal and Central Bedfordshire Council's own Leisure Strategy. The current plans do not appear to deliver the strategic objectives as outlined in that document. Councillors have also queried the logic behind demolishing part of the existing structure – particularly the section which is most frequently used – whilst leaving less functional parts of the building intact.

The application also references a change of use to accommodate a preschool; however, it is unclear whether this is necessary given that such a provision is already in situ. This raises further questions about the purpose and coherence of the development proposals.

In summary, we object to this application on the following grounds:

- 1. Lack of meaningful public consultation Local residents and councillors were not properly consulted prior to submission of the proposals.
- 2. Loss of vital community facility The demolition of the leisure centre would negatively affect students with additional educational needs and broader community access.
- 3. Questionable justification for increased parking Current car parks are underused, and alternative solutions have not been fully explored.
- 4. Inconsistency with CBC's own leisure strategy The application does not appear to align with the aims set out in the leisure strategy.
- 5. Unclear benefits to the town The wider community does not stand to benefit from the proposed changes, and the justification provided lacks substance.

6. Concerns about the proposed change of use – There is confusion over the requirement for a preschool use in a building that is already accommodating such services.

Houghton Regis Town Council urges Central Bedfordshire Council to revisit this application in full, properly consult with the local community, and work to deliver a proposal that reflects the genuine needs and values of Houghton Regis.

CB/25/01273/FULL
(click for more details)Improvement works to the roof including new roof. Removal of
old plant equipment installation of new plant equipment. New
condensers to elevations.
Unit 17, Humphrys Road, Woodside Industrial Estate, Dunstable,
LU5 4TB

Comments: Houghton Regis Town Council raised no objection to this application.

Permissions / Approvals / Consents None received.

Refusals:

None received.

Withdrawals:

None received.

13266 <u>CB/25/00370/FULL</u> 65 – 67 CEMETERY ROAD – APPEAL NOTICE

Members were advised that the committee considered this application at the meeting held on 10th March 2025.

The Town Council submitted the following objections/comments:

Members felt this application constituted overdevelopment. Members also supported the report from the Tree and Landscape Officer objecting to the removal of trees, most notably those outside of the boundary.

Houghton Regis Town Council raised an objection to this application on the grounds of:

- Overdevelopment
- The removal of trees outside of the boundary

Members were asked to consider whether:

- 1. The Town Council wishes to maintain its previous objection and submit representations to the Planning Inspectorate reaffirming the grounds of objection; or
- 2. The Town Council wishes to modify or add to its previous comments; or
- 3. The Town Council has no further comments to make on this matter.

Members agreed that no further comments would be made on this matter.

Resolved: To consider the appeal notification and determine what action, if any, the Town Council wishes to take in response to the planning appeal.

13267 <u>CB/24/00677/FULL</u> LAND BETWEEN ARENSEN CENTRE AND FOSTER AVENUE, ARENSEN WAY – APPEAL NOTICE

Members were advised that the committee considered this application at the meeting held on 2nd April 2024.

Members highlighted that this application was also later represented at the meeting on 9th December 2024 (Minute 13061).

The Town Council submitted the following objections/comments:

Houghton Regis Town Council raised objections to this application on the grounds of:

Houghton Regis Town Council raised an objection to this application on the grounds that this parcel of land is designated as a Local Green Space in the recently approved referendum and adopted Houghton Regis Neighbourhood Plan (NHP).

Policy GSR3 of the NHP, Local Green Spaces, states that inappropriate development within the Local Green Spaces will not be supported except in very special circumstances.

The Town Council is not aware of the existence of any "very special circumstances" in this case.

Members were asked to consider whether:

- 1. The Town Council wishes to maintain its previous objection and submit representations to the Planning Inspectorate reaffirming the grounds of objection; or
- 2. The Town Council wishes to modify or add to its previous comments; or
- 3. The Town Council has no further comments to make on this matter.

Resolved: To consider the appeal notification and determine what action, if any, the Town Council wishes to take in response to the planning appeal.

The Chairman declared the meeting closed at 7.33pm

Dated this 14th day of July 2025

Chairman